Board of Selectmen Grange Hall December 12, 2011 Special Meeting Minutes

Selectmen Present: Mark Walter, John Blaschik, Emmett Lyman Also Present: Paul Maxwell, Robert Bennett, Bruce Dutch, Susan Link, Ed Schwenzfeier, Harvey Thomas, Deb Denette, Cindy Varricchio, Don Angersola, Dan Barry, Dave Shelberg, Ed Blaschik, George Scrivener, Leslie Zoll, Louis Pear and Mike Cooley

- 1. First Selectman Walter called the Board of Selectman meeting to order at 7:20 p.m.
- 2. Joint Meeting of the Board of Selectmen and Board of Finance (during regular Board of Finance Meeting)
- A. Old Middle School: Mr. Walter stated that a very detailed report was received from the Middle School Conversion Committee to convert the old middle school to Town offices which provided for three options with a cost range of \$10,500,000 to \$13,000,000, depending upon which of the options were pursued.

Mr. Walter stated that the majority of the Board of Selectmen did not wish to move the project forward as they felt that the cost was above and beyond what the Town could afford. Mr. Walter added that a Financial Needs Roundtable Committee was established, consisting of members of various Boards to review the long-term financial needs of the Town. In conjunction with that Committee, a 10-year Capital Improvement Plan has been drafted. Mr. Walter stated that while some of the costs are already incorporated in the Town's Capital Improvement Plan, there are over \$40 million in items that need to be addressed.

Mr. Walter stated that there is a need to discuss all of the items, establish priorities and determine the financial commitments the Town can make, given the reduction in revenues and the economic times we are experiencing.

Mr. Walter reviewed the 10-year Plan noting that the items identified in a taupe brown color are newly identified items. He also presented documentation received from the Superintendent regarding desired renovations to the Elementary School. Mr. Walter stated that for Town office facilities, the goals need to focus on creating handicap accessibility, additional space and the potential redevelopment of the riverfront area. Mr. Walter stated that he believed that re-locating the River House and garage from the 7 Main Street facility would provide opportunity for economic development. He also stated that the current Town Office Building could be expanded including installation of an elevator for much less than \$13,000,000. Mr. Walter also noted that Liberty Bank in Moodus would like to accommodate the Police Department in its facility. Mike Fisher has also offered his building for rent, lease or sale. The former Moodus Bank site is another possibility for relocation of the Police Department. Mr. Walter stated that the emergency management operations of the Town were tested this year with Tropical Storm Irene, Winter Storm Alfred, and a large scale search and rescue operation for a

missing person. He stated that although additional facilities would have been nice, the resources available worked.

Mr. Walter identified some of the new larger costs identified through the 10-year Capital Improvement Plan, including approximately \$8,000,000 in renovations to the Elementary School and High School. There is approximately \$755,000 in renovations needed for the Libraries. Mr. Walter also stated that should renovations begin on the old middle school, there is a reasonable likelihood that costs could escalate. Mr. Maxwell stated that the Middle School Conversion Committee did not have great communication with the Board of Finance during its process. Mr. John Blaschik questioned why they were not invited to report. Mr. Maxwell stated that they were asked, however, they made their report to the Board of Selectmen, as was its charge. Mr. Maxwell stated that he was in attendance when their report was made.

Mr. Maxwell further noted that the full written report of the Middle School Conversion Committee was given to all members, Mrs. Varricchio was asked to get a copy to Mr. Thomas.

Mr. Thomas stated that there are reports that go back into the 1970's recognizing the need to move the Town Office Building out of the most valuable piece of real estate in East Haddam. Mr. Thomas stated that he has a problem with the capital needs analysis completed by Mr. Walter, in that it captures many items that are already contemplated for. Mr. Thomas added, however, that it was a great starting point. Mr. Walter reiterated that \$10,000,000 to \$15,000,000 is recurring costs already covered within the Capital Improvement Plan. Mr. Thomas also added, that as savings from paying off prior debt are realized, those figures should be captured within the document, as should offsetting revenue from the sale or lease of the 7 Main Street property. Mr. Walter referred to a document entitled authorized and issued debt, reflecting all bonding, principal and interest payments out to the year 2031.

Mr. Walter added that the East Haddam Village Revitalization had issued a request for qualifications for the Main Street property and that 75 bid packets were sent out and there was no response.

Mr. Thomas stated that many volunteers spent four years and much money to obtain a reasonably good figure, and that it would be expected that they could be off by a million or so dollars. Mr. Thomas stated that if the old middle school continues to sit, it will need to be demolished.

Mr. Schwenzfeier stated that for 30 years he has wanted to see the Town Offices move out of the riverfront property. He stated that many opportunities for revitalization have been lost over the years and that the property is absolutely beautiful. He stated that he believed that a \$10,000,000 to \$13,000,000 price tag is too costly for new offices. He stated that he would like to see a piecemeal approach.

Mrs. Link stated that her problem with the Middle School Conversion Committee's proposal is that the project is too big. She did not believe that 67,000 square feet of office space was necessary and added that she would not support such a costly project. Mrs. Link asked

members of both Boards if they would vote for the project in the form recommended by the Committee. The unanimous response was that they would not.

Mr. Thomas stated that in his opinion the left hand and the right hand are doing two different things and are not being directed properly. In particular, he was referring to the East Haddam Village Revitalization Commission and the Middle School Conversion Committee. Mr. Walter responded that based upon the plan created by George Fellner for the Village Revitalization Commission, it is not necessary to vacate the Town Office Building.

Mr. Thomas stated that for the property to be economically viable and a revenue producer, the Town Offices need to move.

Mr. Bennett inquired about the status of the old middle school. Mr. Walter stated that the boiler, which was a huge issue and part of the reason the Board of Education vacated the building in the first place needs approximately \$15,000 of repairs to keep it running. He stated that draining the pipes and cold storing the building is also an option, although he stated that it is an option not recommended by the architect. Mr. Ed Blaschik stated that the professionals have advised that if the building does not have air flow it will be taken over by mold. Mr. Walter stated that it does not have air flow now and had mold issues prior to being vacated by the Board of Education.

Responsive to an inquiry, Mr. Ed Blaschik advised that rough demolition estimates were approximately \$2,000,000 for the Ray section. It was noted that asbestos is present.

Mr. Dutch inquired what would be necessary to bring the choices to referendum for the tax payers to decide. Mr. Walter advised that referendum items must be in the form of a yes or no question, not choices or parameters. He further stated that items go that route, "as recommended by the Boards of Selectmen and Finance" and this item has not yet been "recommended by". Further, if a question is formulated, the Town must be prepared for its passing. Mr. Walter reiterated his concern that the Town cannot afford this scope of a project with the additional projects needed at this time.

Mr. Ed Blaschik stated that it would cost an additional \$80,000 to present "real costs" to the voters. He stated that the Committee did not want "best guesses" but real figures and would accordingly have contracts ready to sign upon the successful passage of referendum. He further stated that while the economy is down it also brings advantages in the form of cheaper labor, materials and interest rates.

Mr. Maxwell stated his opinion that he did not see any increase in services associated with a new Town Hall. He stated that taxes would increase approximately \$400 to \$500 a year for the average taxpayer for the next 20 years.

Mr. Thomas stated that he believed the voters should decide. Mr. Maxwell stated that he believed the voters did decide on November 8th.

Mr. Walter inquired how much the Town could afford, so that the Board of Selectmen could work to prioritize identified needs.

Mr. Bennett stated that he was initially in favor of renovating the old middle school for Town Offices, but not at a cost of nearly \$13,000,000.

Mr. Lyman stated that he would find this project unconscionable at this time with over 200 families in Town dependent upon the Food Bank for survival. Mr. Lyman stated that he does not want to lose the building however, he would like to see a project that is much smaller in scope. Mr. Lyman stated that he sees scary similarities between the current situation and the Moodus redevelopment project of the late 60's.

Mr. John Blaschik stated that in 1973 a committee issued a report that the Town had outgrown its Town Hall, since then it has added personnel and kept the same building. He further stated that the Town's government needs are continually put on a back burner for school issues. He stated that it is time that the government side came first. He added that he liked the concept of a centralized location. Mr. Blaschik stated that he believed that \$5,000,000 had been put away for this project. He added that it may be a good time to do such a project as more competitive pricing is likely available to keep employees working. Mr. Blaschik stated his concern with the cost of approximately \$13,000,000.

Mr. Maxwell stated that a Capital Reserve Fund was implemented to mitigate mill rate spikes when Mr. Fortier was on the Board of Finance. Mr. Maxwell indicated that he has reviewed several years of Board of Finance minutes with regard to the Capital Reserve Fund and the minutes reflect that it was not targeted for any specific project.

B. Firefighter Pension—Ordinance Amendment:

Motion was made by Mr. Walter, seconded by Mr. Lyman, to approve the following resolution:

WHEREAS, the Town of East Haddam wishes to amend the ordinance entitled "East Haddam Volunteer Fire Pension Plan", adopted December 13, 1990, to: (1) limit participation in the Volunteer Firefighters' Incentive Plan established by said ordinance to those persons who were eligible to receive a benefit from or participate in said Incentive Plan on December 31, 2011 or who had a vested benefit under said Incentive Plan on December 31, 2011; (2) exclude from participation in said Incentive Plan those individuals who become members of the East Haddam Volunteer Fire Department after December 31, 2011; (3) establish a new plan to provide length of service awards to those individuals who become members of the East Haddam Volunteer Fire Department after December 31, 2011; and (4) provide individuals who are participating in said Incentive Plan and who have five or less years of credited service under said Incentive Plan with a one-time opportunity to elect to participate in the new length of service award plan by waiving their rights to participate in and receive a benefit from said Incentive Plan.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, by the Board of Finance and the Board of Selectmen, that the ordinance entitled "East Haddam Volunteer Fire Pension Plan", adopted December 13, 1990, is hereby amended by adding the following new section 5 and new section 6

5. <u>Limitation on eligibility to receive a benefit from or participate in the Volunteer Firefighters' Incentive Plan established by this ordinance.</u> The only individuals who are eligible to receive a benefit from or participate in the Volunteer Firefighters' Incentive Plan established by sections 1 through 4 of this ordinance (the "Incentive Plan") are those individuals who were eligible to receive a benefit from or participate in the Incentive Plan on December 31, 2011 or who had a vested benefit under said Incentive Plan on December 31, 2011. Individuals who become members of the East Haddam Volunteer Fire Department after December 31, 2011 shall not be eligible to receive a benefit from or participate in the Incentive Plan with regard to volunteer services performed by such individuals for the East Haddam Volunteer Fire Department after December 31, 2011. All plan documents for the Incentive Plan are hereby amended to incorporate the provisions of this section 5.

6. Establishment of East Haddam Length of Service Award Plan for Volunteer Members of East Haddam Volunteer Fire Department

- Statement of Purpose. In recognition that the public interest, safety, and welfare will be (a) promoted and advanced through the retention and recruitment of volunteer members for the East Haddam Volunteer Fire Department (the "Department") and through the encouragement of active involvement by those volunteer members in the firefighting and prevention services which the Department provides to the Town of East Haddam (the "Town"), it is in the best interests of the Town to establish a system which will provide length of service awards to the following active volunteer members of the Department (the Eligible Volunteers"): (i) active volunteer members of the Department who become members of the Department after December 31, 2011 and who meet the eligibility requirements for participation set forth in the plan documents for the length of service award system; and (ii) active volunteer members of the Department who became members of the Department on or before December 31, 2011 and who have five or less years of credited service under the Volunteer Firefighters' Incentive Plan established by sections 1 through 4 of this ordinance (the "existing Incentive Plan") and who do not have a nonforfeitable interest or vested interest in any accrued benefit under the existing Incentive Plan and who no later than February 1, 2012 waive all benefits and rights which they may be entitled to under the Town's existing Incentive Plan and who meet the eligibility requirements for participation set forth in the plan documents for the length of service award system.
- (b) <u>Establishment</u>. Pursuant to Sections 7-148(c)(5)(A) and 7-148(2) of the Connecticut General Statutes, the Town establishes a system for providing length of service awards to the Eligible Volunteers and such system (the "LOSAP") is intended to be a length of service award plan as defined in section 457(e)(11)(A)(ii), section 457(e)(11)(B), and section 457(e)(11)(C) of Title 26 of the United States Code, as amended, and any successor sections.
- (c) The First Selectman is empowered, authorized and directed to enter into and execute on behalf of the Town a plan document for the LOSAP and such other such documents and agreements as may be required to establish and maintain the LOSAP, such plan document and such other documents and agreements to become effective after approval by the Board of Selectmen and the Board of Finance.

- (d) The LOSAP shall be administered by the Plan Administrator as defined in the plan document for the LOSAP. The adoption of this section 6 of this ordinance shall constitute a specific delegation to the Plan Administrator, pursuant to the Board of Selectmen, to accept the responsibilities of and to perform the duties of the Plan Administrator in the administration of the LOSAP and to exercise the powers and rights of the Plan Administrator to administer the LOSAP.
- (e) The Town shall enter into a trust agreement establishing a trust (the "LOSAP Trust") to receive contributions from the Town to fund the length of service awards under the LOSAP. The trustee shall be a trustee approved by the Plan Administrator of the LOSAP. The trustee shall disburse funds from the LOSAP Trust in accordance with the provisions of the trust agreement, Connecticut law and this section 6 of this ordinance.
- (f) The Town may periodically contribute to the LOSAP Trust such amounts of cash as may be determined and approved by the Board of Selectmen and the Board of Finance to fund the length of service awards which have been credited under the LOSAP to the accounts of the Eligible Volunteers under the plan document for the LOSAP.

Discussion:

It was noted that a committee has been working on this item for several years. It was emphasized that this change does not alter anyone's benefit that is currently in the plan.

Board of Selectmen motion unanimously approved. Motion carried.

Motion was made by Mr. Maxwell to approve the following resolution and to recommend that the Board of Selectmen schedule a Town Meeting for approval:

WHEREAS, the Town of East Haddam wishes to amend the ordinance entitled "East Haddam Volunteer Fire Pension Plan", adopted December 13, 1990, to: (1) limit participation in the Volunteer Firefighters' Incentive Plan established by said ordinance to those persons who were eligible to receive a benefit from or participate in said Incentive Plan on December 31, 2011 or who had a vested benefit under said Incentive Plan on December 31, 2011; (2) exclude from participation in said Incentive Plan those individuals who become members of the East Haddam Volunteer Fire Department after December 31, 2011; (3) establish a new plan to provide length of service awards to those individuals who become members of the East Haddam Volunteer Fire Department after December 31, 2011; and (4) provide individuals who are participating in said Incentive Plan and who have five or less years of credited service under said Incentive Plan with a one-time opportunity to elect to participate in the new length of service award plan by waiving their rights to participate in and receive a benefit from said Incentive Plan.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, by the Board of Finance and the Board of Selectmen, that the ordinance entitled "East Haddam Volunteer Fire Pension Plan", adopted December 13, 1990, is hereby amended by adding the following new section 5 and new section 6:

5. <u>Limitation on eligibility to receive a benefit from or participate in the Volunteer Firefighters' Incentive Plan established by this ordinance.</u> The only individuals who are eligible to receive a benefit from or participate in the Volunteer Firefighters' Incentive Plan established by sections 1 through 4 of this ordinance (the "Incentive Plan") are those individuals who were eligible to receive a benefit from or participate in the Incentive Plan on December 31, 2011 or who had a vested benefit under said Incentive Plan on December 31, 2011. Individuals who become members of the East Haddam Volunteer Fire Department after December 31, 2011 shall not be eligible to receive a benefit from or participate in the Incentive Plan with regard to volunteer services performed by such individuals for the East Haddam Volunteer Fire Department after December 31, 2011. All plan documents for the Incentive Plan are hereby amended to incorporate the provisions of this section 5.

6. Establishment of East Haddam Length of Service Award Plan for Volunteer Members of East Haddam Volunteer Fire Department

- Statement of Purpose. In recognition that the public interest, safety, and welfare will be (a) promoted and advanced through the retention and recruitment of volunteer members for the East Haddam Volunteer Fire Department (the "Department") and through the encouragement of active involvement by those volunteer members in the firefighting and prevention services which the Department provides to the Town of East Haddam (the "Town"), it is in the best interests of the Town to establish a system which will provide length of service awards to the following active volunteer members of the Department (the Eligible Volunteers"): (i) active volunteer members of the Department who become members of the Department after December 31, 2011 and who meet the eligibility requirements for participation set forth in the plan documents for the length of service award system; and (ii) active volunteer members of the Department who became members of the Department on or before December 31, 2011 and who have five or less years of credited service under the Volunteer Firefighters' Incentive Plan established by sections 1 through 4 of this ordinance (the "existing Incentive Plan") and who do not have a nonforfeitable interest or vested interest in any accrued benefit under the existing Incentive Plan and who no later than February 1, 2012 waive all benefits and rights which they may be entitled to under the Town's existing Incentive Plan and who meet the eligibility requirements for participation set forth in the plan documents for the length of service award system.
- (b) <u>Establishment</u>. Pursuant to Sections 7-148(c)(5)(A) and 7-148(2) of the Connecticut General Statutes, the Town establishes a system for providing length of service awards to the Eligible Volunteers and such system (the "LOSAP") is intended to be a length of service award plan as defined in section 457(e)(11)(A)(ii), section 457(e)(11)(B), and section 457(e)(11)(C) of Title 26 of the United States Code, as amended, and any successor sections.
- (c) The First Selectman is empowered, authorized and directed to enter into and execute on behalf of the Town a plan document for the LOSAP and such other such documents and agreements as may be required to establish and maintain the LOSAP, such plan document and such other documents and agreements to become effective after approval by the Board of Selectmen and the Board of Finance.

- (d) The LOSAP shall be administered by the Plan Administrator as defined in the plan document for the LOSAP. The adoption of this section 6 of this ordinance shall constitute a specific delegation to the Plan Administrator, pursuant to the Board of Selectmen, to accept the responsibilities of and to perform the duties of the Plan Administrator in the administration of the LOSAP and to exercise the powers and rights of the Plan Administrator to administer the LOSAP.
- (e) The Town shall enter into a trust agreement establishing a trust (the "LOSAP Trust") to receive contributions from the Town to fund the length of service awards under the LOSAP. The trustee shall be a trustee approved by the Plan Administrator of the LOSAP. The trustee shall disburse funds from the LOSAP Trust in accordance with the provisions of the trust agreement, Connecticut law and this section 6 of this ordinance.
- (f) The Town may periodically contribute to the LOSAP Trust such amounts of cash as may be determined and approved by the Board of Selectmen and the Board of Finance to fund the length of service awards which have been credited under the LOSAP to the accounts of the Eligible Volunteers under the plan document for the LOSAP.

Mr. Bennett seconded the motion and it was unanimously approved. Motion carried.

3. Adjournment: Motion was made by Mr. Walter, seconded by Mr. Blaschik, to adjourn the Board of Selectmen meeting at 8:42 pm. Motion carried.

Tape: None Respectfully submitted,

Emmett J. Lyman, Secretary